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The remaining portions of Andrew Jackson's Hermitage plantation, 625 of the
original 1,200 acres, are located north and south of Rachels Lane west of its
intersection with Lebanon Pike (Route 24) at Hermitage, Tennessee. The Hermitage
mansion, outbuildings, garden, and family cemetery stand on the north side of
Rachels Lane and are surrounded by open, rolling fields.

Jackson purchased his Hermitage plantation in 1804 and for the next 15 years
occupied a group of log buildings already standing on the property. These
included a two-story blockhouse, which had been used as a store before it was
converted to a dwelling, and three one-story cabins used as sleeping quarters
for the family and guests. In 1819, with the profits from a three-year boom

in cotton prices, Jackson was able to build the original Hermitage mansion

(the center section of the present house) on a site selected by his wife Rachel.
The square, two-story brick building followed a four-room, center-hall plan with
parlor, dining room (both west), and two bedrooms divided by a ¢ross-hall (east)
on the first floor and four additional bedrooms on the second.

Jackson's adopted son, Andrew Jackson, Jr., married Sarah York of Philadelphia
in 1831 and brought his bride to live at the Hermitage. Jackson enlarged and
improved the mansion the same year, probably as a wedding present to the young
couple. One-story, gable-roofed brick wings were added to either side of the
house, that on the west containing a dining room, pantry, and storage area,

that on the east Jackson's library and a plantation office, later converted to

a nursery, divided by a covered entry extending from the older crosshall. The
wings projected beyond the front (south) elevation of the mansion and were
connected by a one-story wooden porch. A two-story gallery was added to the rear
elevation. Finally a separate kitchen and smokehouse, each one story, of brick,
with a gabled roof, were constructed at the rear of the northwest corner of the
house; the kitchen was connected to the dining room wing by a covered passageway.

In October, 1834, fire swept the Hermitage mansion, gutting the interior but

leaving the exterior walls intact. At that time Joseph Reiff and William Hume,
local carpenter-contractors, were already at work on the nearby Tulip Grove

mansion, and on January 1, 1835, Jackson contracted with them to rebuild the
Hermitage with several significant alterations. Ceiling heights were increased on"
both floors and windows were enlarged and rearranged. The covered entry between the
library and office in the east wing was bricked in and made into a hall. The
present two-story wooden galleries with fluted classical columns were added to the
front and rear elevations, and the front elevation was painted white to hide smoke
damage to the brick.

Decorative features of the'reconstructed interior include carved marble mantels,
classical door and window surrounds, and a circular flying staircase. The scenic
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wallpaper in the main hall, called the "Telemachus paper" because it depicts
four of the adventures of Telemachus in search of his father, Ulysses, was made
by Dufour in Paris about 1825 and shipped to the Hermitage by way of New Orleans
in 1835. The paper was handprinted with 3,500 wooden blocks and colors were
brushed in to complete the process.

The Hermitage mansion has remained relatively unaltered since Jackson's death

in 1845. Most of the furnishings are original; some pieces were saved from the
1834 fire but the majority were purchased in Philadelphia in 1835 for the
reconstructed house. In 1930, James Wilson of the Metropolitan Museum of Art
removed the Telemachus paper, mounted it on canvas, treated it with preservative,
and replaced it. Other wallpapers were repaired as part of an extensive restora-
tion program carried out .in 1969-72, which also included strengthening the main
staircase, repainting in origimal colors following chemical analysis, and instal-
lation of a fire detection system.

The grounds of the Hermitage retain much of their historic character. The guitar-
shaped main driveway, lined with cedars and now planted in grass, was created in
1837 from designs by artist Ralph E. W. Earl, who had married oneof Mrs. Jackson's
nieces and became a permanent member of the Hermitage household after his wife's
early death. The garden, located immediately southeast of the mansipn, was ladd
out by William Frost, an: English gardener, in 1819. More than one acre in area,
it contains formal beds of flowers and shrubs with grass covering the former
vegetable plots. At its southeast corner is the tomb of Andrew and Rachel Jackson
suvrounded by the graves of other members of the Jackson family.

Original outbuildings, located north of the mansion (see accompanying perspective
view), include the brick smokehouse and stable, a stone springhouse, and the log
cabin occupied by Uncle Alfred, Jackson’s favorite house servant, who remained at
the Hermitage until his death in 1901 and is buried in the family cemetery. Two
cabins stand northeast of the mansion on the site of the first Hermitage buildings
one of them owriginal, the other constructed with materials from the old blockhouse
To the northwest are a log barn and carriage house moved to the Hermitage from
Jackson's earlier home at Hunter's Hill. Also on the grounds are a museum,
administrative offices, ticket office, farm shop, and visitors center; these
structures--one or one-and-a-half stories, of brick--were constructed in the
1930's.and, with the exception of the visitors center (gift shop and concession
stand) , do not detract from the setting of the historic buildings. Visitor
parking is screened by fences and mature trees. The "cabin by the spring" was
constructed in the 1940's and serves as a meeting place for the Ladies Hermitage
Association. ,

The Hermitage buildings and grounds are generally in excellent condition.
Archeological investigation is currently under way to determine the location of

(continued)
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additional supporting buildings and, if sufficient documentation is available,
these will be reconstructed. Future plans also call for the removal of all
visitor service, parking, and maintenance facilities to an area southwest of
the mansion on the opposite side of Hermitage Road (see accompanying USGS map) ;
that area is not included in the national historic landmark boundaries for the

property.

Addendum:
01d Hermitage Church is included in the national landmark

boundary for the Hermitage.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Hermitage plantation, located 12 miles east of Nashville at Hermitage,
Tennessee, was the home of Andrew Jackson, seventh President of the United

States, from 1804 until his death in 1845. The Hermitage mansion, a two-story
Greek Revival building of brick with front and rear galleries of wood, was
completed in 1819, enlarged by the addition of wings in 1831, and rebuilt with
alterations following a fire in 1834. The building has remained essentially
unaltered since that time. Associated with the mansion are a number of dependencies
including a kitchen, smokehouse, stable, springhouse, and slave cabin. The bodies
of Jackson and his wife, Rachel Donelson Jackson, are interred in a tomb at the
southeast corner of the Hermitage garden. The Ladies Hermitage Association,
chartered by the State of Tennessee in 1889, owns and administers the Hermitage,
which is open to the public throughout the year.

Historical Background

In 1804 Andrew Jackson sold his 640-acre Hunter's Hill plantation in order to pay
.0off debts arising from the financial panic of 1798-99 and moved to an adjacent
tract of land which he named the Hermitage. For the next 15 years Jackson and

his :wife, Rachel Donelson Jackson, lived in the cluster of log buildings already
on the property at the time of its purchase. Here they entertained notable visitors
including President Monroe and Aaron Burr. Jackson led the life of a gentleman
farmer at the Hermitage until 1813 when he was called to active service with the
militia by the outbreak of the Creek War. His military conduct brought him a
commission as a major general in the United States Army, and after the Battle of
New Orleans on.January 8, 1815, he returned to the Hermitage a national hero.

With the prof;ts(froﬁlﬁaﬁﬁaée—year boom in cotton prices, Jackson built the central
portipn'oﬁ"the'pr%§§ﬁf”ﬁgf§itage mansion in 1818-19 on a site chosen by his wife.
In 1823 he*Was elected to the United States Senate by the Tennessee Legislature and
the following fgs?%W§§?§h“ﬁﬁsuccessful candidate for the Presidency, defeated by
John Quincy Adams when-th ;piection was thrown into the House of Representatives.
Embittereqd. fy whatahe.g6n§ggered a '"'corrupt bargain'" between Adams and Henry Clay,
another candidate -and af§o~kpeaker of the House, Jackson immediately began prepara-
tions for the campaign of*I828 in which he bested Adams by an electoral majority
of 178 to 83. His political triumph was clouded by the death of Rachel Jackson

in January 1829, only a short time before his departure from the Hermitage for

his inauguration. .
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Jackson entered the Presidency with the following statement of Principles:

The Federal Constitution must be obeyed, state
rights preserved, our national debt must be

paid, direct taxes and loans avoided, and the
Federal Union preserved. These are the objects

I have in view, and regardless of all consequences
will carry into effect.

During his two terms in office (1829-37), Jackson successfully opposed South
Carolina's attempt to invoke the doctrine~ of nullification as advanced by

John C. Calhoun, blocked renewal of the charter of the second Bank of the United
States and ended its existence by withdrawing Govermment deposits, and forced
the~removal of the Cherokee Indians to western reservations. He also set a
record for fiscal management unequaled by any other administration, paying off
the national debt and generating a surplus of $35 million, which was distributed
to the individual states.

On his return to the Hermitage in 1837, Jackson occupied what was almost a new
house. In 1831, he had arranged from Washington for the addition of eastern and
western wings to the 1819 buidiing. Fire gutted the central and eastern sections
of the mansion- in 1834, leaving only the foundation and exterior walls intact, but
by May, 1835, it had been rebullt with alterations.

Jackson died on June 8, 1845, and his body was laid next to that of his wife in
the tomb at the southeast corner of the Hermitage garden. The Hermitage was
bequeathed to Jackson's adopted son, Andrew Jackson, Jr., who in 1856 sold the
mansion, outbuildings, and 500 acres of land (700 acres of Jackson's 1,200-acre
plantation had already been sold) to the State of Tennessee. Andrew Johnson,

then governor of the state, attempted to donate.. the property to the Federal
Governmment as the site of a southern branch of the United States Military Academy.
The Senate Committee on Military Affairs endorsed the plan but with the growing
threat of war between the North and South Johnson's offer was ewentually rejected.
With the exception of the brief period 1858-60, Andrew Jackson Jr. or members of
his immediate family continued to live at the Hermitage as custodians until 1887.
In 1889 the Tennessee Legislature granted a charter to the Ladies Hermitage Associ:
tion, authorizing that organization to administer the mansion and 25 acres of land
on behalf of the state. In 1934 title to the entire 500-acre tract was transferrec
to the Association by the Legislature under a deed of trust.
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The boundaries of the national historic landmark designation for the
Hermitiage are shown in black on the accompanying UsGS map. Specific
line, enclosing approximately 350 acres of the Hermitage property

as owned by the Ladies Hermitage Association, are defined as

follows:

Beginning at the intersection of the western curblines of Shut e
Lane and Lebanon Pike(Route 24), proceed southwesterly along the
western curbline of Lebanon Pike to the center line o of Rachels
Lane; thence east approximately 250" to a point; thence south
500', more or less, to a point; thence west 500", more or less,
to the western curbline of Lebanon Pike; thence southwesterly
along the said curbline 1000', more or less, to a point} thence

due west to the eastern curbline of Hermitage Road; thence northerly
4500', more or less, to a point; thence easterly 4000', more or less

to the western curbline of Shute Lane; thence southerly along
said curbline to the point of origin.




